
MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, December 11, 2025 
Page 1 

 Minutes  
City of Redondo Beach – Regular Meeting 

Budget & Finance Commission 
December 11, 2025  

 

 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE BUDGET AND FINANCE COMMISSION – 6:30 P.M. 

 

A. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 

A Regular Meeting of the Redondo Beach Budget and Finance Commission was called 
to order at 6:30 p.m. by Chair Allen, in the City Hall Council Chambers, 415 Diamond 
Street, Redondo Beach, California. 

B. ROLL CALL 

Commissioners Present:   Marin, Jeste, Sherbin, Ramcharan, Woodham, Turner, Chair 
Allen 

Commissioners Absent: None 

Officials Present:  Stephanie Meyer, Finance Director  
 Jacob Kamsvaag, Administrative Analyst 
 Emily Bodkin, Liaison 
 
C. SALUTE TO THE FLAG 

Chair Allen led in the salute to the flag. 

D. APPROVE ORDER OF AGENDA 

Motion by Commissioner Woodham, seconded by Commissioner Ramcharan, to approve 
the order of the agenda as presented. 

Motion carried 7-0- by voice vote.  

E. BLUE FOLDER ITEMS - ADDITIONAL BACK UP MATERIALS - None 

E.1.  For Blue Folder Documents Approved at the Budget and Finance 
Commission Meeting  

Liaison Bodkin reported no Blue Folder items. 

F.  CONSENT CALENDAR  



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, December 11, 2025 
Page 2 

F.1.  APPROVAL OF AFFIDAVIT OF POSTING FOR THE REGULAR BUDGET AND 
FINANCE COMMISSION MEETING OF DECEMBER 11, 2025  

F.2.  APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES FROM THE REGULAR MEETING OF 
NOVEMBER 13, 2025  

Motion by Commissioner Marin, seconded by Commissioner Woodham, to approve the 
Consent Calendar as written. 

Motion carried 7-0 by voice vote.  

G. EXCLUDED CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS - None 
 

H. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS  

H.1.  For eComments and Emails Received from the Public 

Jim Mueller commended the Commission on their agenda for that evening; noted they 
are shining a light on issues with the City’s budgets and finances which is doing the 
community a real service; hoped the City staff adopts more transparency with City 
finances, making the numbers more accessible and understandable to the Commission, 
the Council, and the public; spoke of financial matters of the City being similar to public 
matters in how to budget limited resources while getting things done and how to plan and 
estimate but understand things are uncertain and mistakes are made; stated the worst 
thing a public servant can do in the financial realm is use financial techniques that prevent 
the people from understanding how public money is managed and spent; spoke about 
violating people’s trust and making people angry by keeping things hidden from them; 
stated the Commission as an advisory on finances for the Council can keep them aware 
of financial decisions they need to make; stated overall the Commission has done a great 
job. 

Liaison Bodkin reported no one online and no eComments. 

I.  ITEMS CONTINUED FROM PREVIOUS AGENDAS - None 

J. ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION PRIOR TO ACTION  

J.1.  LETTER TO COUNCIL  

Chair Allen reported they were not allowed to send the letter to Council and need to vote 
on the letter officially before staff can send it to Council. 

Finance Director Meyer stated she could explain it to them if they are interested and 
apologized for the situation; said if she was a better expert in the Brown Act she would 
have avoided this issue; explained the standard practice of a subgroup writing a letter for 
a commission and explained that they unfortunately did not follow procedure; reported 
that she spoke to the City Clerk and the City Manager, and the City Manager spoke to the 
City Attorney and unfortunately they could not allow it; stated she was glad Chair Allen 
was able to read the letter on her behalf at he Council meeting; stated staff is asking the 



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, December 11, 2025 
Page 3 

Commission to formally vote to approve the letter in public tonight and she will send it to 
Council. 

Chair Allen asked Finance Director Meyer what prompted her to go to the City Clerk. 

Finance Director Meyer said she wanted to make sure she was doing the correct thing 
and wanted to clarify the procedure from the City Clerk’s office. 

Chair Allen stated instead of the City Clerk’s office just saying the Brown Act doesn’t 
allow, she would like them to copy and paste what it is exactly that prevented them from 
doing it; explained that she went to the Council meeting and read part of the letter on her 
behalf; stated she looked back at the letter and wants to make more changes and add 
some more items; noted they have two choices: someone can partner with her while she 
makes the changes or she can write it bring it back next time and the Commission can 
vote on it before it goes to Council. 

Commissioner Marin asked what she wanted to modify and add. 

Chair Allen referred to the list in the letter where they recommend what the quarterly 
reports should include and she wanted to add additional items. 

Commissioner Marin asked her to specify what items.  

Chair Allen said she is going to look at what other cities include and she has seen more 
things that should be included; wanted to make the list more comprehensive but it is up 
to the Commission how they should proceed. 

Commissioner Marin summarized the two approaches would be for Chair Allen and 
Commissioner Sherbin to work together again and send the letter forward and not through 
the City or Chair Allen would write the letter, bring it back for the Commission to review, 
and then send it to the Council. 

Commissioner Sherbin asked if time is of the essence in this situation, and if it is, then 
that would indicate how they should proceed. 

Chair Allen stated she preferred to do it quickly and if she and Commissioner Sherbin 
write it they can send it by Tuesday but if they wait to have the Commission review it then 
it will have to come back in a month. 

Commissioner Sherbin commented that his concern is that the letter is going out under 
the name of the Commission and everyone in the Commission should have an opportunity 
to express their concurrence or not.  

Chair Allen reminded Commissioner Sherbin they had done a similar process before that 
worked. 

Commissioner Marin commented that he doesn’t have any strong feelings either way. 



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, December 11, 2025 
Page 4 

Commissioner Turner stated he just wanted to understand what Chair Allen is asking; 
summarized what he thought Chair Allen was proposing which was to draft a letter using 
ideas from other cities to make sure they are including everything, have the Commission 
review and approve when they meet next month, and if everything looks good move it 
forward.  

Chair Allen explained there are two choices; explained the idea of using a subcommittee 
to write the letter which does not require the Commission to review it and explained the 
delay in having the entire Commission review the letter prior to submitting it to Council. 

More discussion followed on the option that does not require the Commission’s approval. 

Commissioner Turner asked if there were any changes she wanted to make aside from 
adding additional things to the quarterly budget updates. 

Chair Allen stated there is one thing she does want to include, that is standard practice in 
the industry, and she also wanted to include a short paragraph explaining the difference 
between private and public sectors; noted in public sector it is about reporting and tracking 
and she would like to explain that to Council. 

Commissioner Turner supported the subcommittee option; he doesn’t want the role done 
individually because he would like to have a second pair of eyes on it for due diligence. 

More discussion followed and Commissioner Turner volunteered to be on the 
subcommittee. 

Motion by Chair Allen, seconded by Commissioner Marin, to have Chair Allen, 
Commissioner Jeste, and Commissioner Turner be on the subcommittee to finalize the 
letter to send to Council. 

Motion carried 7-0 by voice vote. 

J.2. CIP PROJECTS REPORTED BY PROJECT SUMMARY-COMMENTS AND 
QUESTIONS  

Chair Allen reported that Commissioner Jeste asked to bring this item back. 

Commissioner Jeste commented that Finance Director Meyer provided helpful data on all 
the completed projects on a spreadsheet last month and he has been going through the 
numbers to try and make sense of it; provided appropriation numbers from the original 
bids and the project’s cost by the time of completion and reported the initial bids amounted 
to less than 20% of the completed costs and the other 80% were due to adding more 
changes and that all goes to the contractor; noted that gives the contractors who win the 
jobs opportunity to boost their profits, and in the process, the City ends up losing; provided 
an example using the City’s street improvement project on Anita St. at PCH to Maria Ave., 
which was job number 41240, described the process and timeline, stated there were four 
change orders approved during the project, and the project that started off at $213,000 
ended up at $711,000; reported he went through four other projects that had the same 



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, December 11, 2025 
Page 5 

story; voiced his concern that there is no policy or procedure for getting competitive bids 
on all the subsequent changes, understood that changes are needed but commented that 
some of the additional changes could be bundled into another project and bids opened 
for them; stated he brought this up because the City has the bond that was approved by 
voters, taxpayers, for the Fire and Police stations and shuddered to think what those may 
end up costing the City if they continue to plan and execute as they have been for 50 
years; noted that the world has changed and technology has changed and that is why he 
wrote the letter to the Mayor that they discussed in previous meetings; commented that 
the City needs to streamline, simplify, and eliminate duplication, fraud, and waste, noted 
that the City has been able to resist change until now and now they have a budget deficit 
and they need to be willing to change; spoke about the City’s CIPs scheduled over the 
next five years and voiced concern over those costing being over four times the initial 
costs; stated that all the projects he reviewed received grants or some other type of 
funding but that will dry up and the City will not get any help from the federal government; 
spoke of the difficulty in finding the data they just got and mentioned with the new 
technology available and AI the process should become more efficient; recommended a 
third-party independent auditor should be brought in to dig through all the data and 
uncover duplication and eliminate waste and any possibility of fraud, corruption, or 
mismanagement. 

Commissioner Sherbin stated it sounded like Commissioner Jeste had two major 
directions he was going: 1) for a TQM type of overlay for management practice, and 2) to 
have a review of the City’s CIP function; suggested obtaining Indiana’s CIP process so 
that the City could take a look at it to see if it could help them. 

Commissioner Jeste commented that the TQM philosophy applies to everything in 
business. 

More discussion followed on best practices and the need to dig into the processes the 
City is using. 

Commissioner Sherbin asked Commissioner Jeste to state what he is specifically 
recommending. 

Commissioner Jeste stated the City needs an independent third-party audit, then 
someone who can point out the areas of weakness, duplication, and waste, and then they 
can bring a total quality expert to review all the internal processes and see where they 
can be streamlined and made more efficient. 

Commissioner Turner asked what would the auditor that is being recommended be 
auditing; stated he does not have experience in the public sector but gave an example in 
the private sector using a house remodel; described the process he would go through 
from the bid, to change orders, to the final cost; spoke in more detail about the project 
having more added to it after it has already begun and the inability to fire them mid-project; 
clarified what he is asking Commissioner Jeste is the recommendation to hire an auditor 
to audit the process, the past projects, or discrepancy in funding and support the idea of 
hiring an auditor. 



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, December 11, 2025 
Page 6 

Commissioner Jeste stated the auditor should review all the documentation on all the 
projects and find ways and opportunities for streamlining, simplifying, and eliminating 
waste; voiced more concern regarding change orders with no competitive bid process on 
all the projects and noted that if the initial appropriation is only 20% of the project then 
80% of the money is awarded without getting any competitive bids. 

More discussion followed regarding the process, change orders, additional funding, and 
additional things added to projects. 

Commissioner Jeste reported he saw three projects where the City received money, the 
City decided to do improvements, and the City just allowed the contractor to continue. 

Finance Director Meyer stated there are some cases in which there are priority projects 
that Council has interest in doing but, at the time of the initial appropriation, do not have 
the full funding. They may then receive funding during project implementation and decide 
to add to the scope; stated she is not questioning Commissioner Jeste’s logic but that it 
could be semantics and the contractor did not overspend on the project but had more 
added to it; stated that, for the most part, it is not that the contractor did bad work, it is 
that the City has found more opportunities to add to the scope. 

Chair Allen commented on the bidding process and that the City should bid for worst case 
scenarios. 

Commissioner Sherbin suggested that the Public Works Director meet with the Budget & 
Finance Commission prior to hiring a consultant or an auditor so that they can understand 
the process a bit better. 

Chair Allen stated staff have come to the Commission and explained it all to them already. 

Commissioner Jeste asked, with initial appropriations $10 million and subsequent 
appropriations $47 million, how does the City make that work, how does the City make it 
more cost effective, can they get more competitive bids if they are spending that much 
money, and is it possible to split the projects once a project is complete and start a new 
project so bids can be accepted; stated he is just asking the feasibility of that. 

Chair Allen stated that is what the auditor would be able to do. 

Commissioner Woodham stated he is having trouble understanding what the auditor 
would do since they have already identified a process the City Council goes through to 
approve a project and approve work order additions and the auditor would only be able 
to single out a particular project where the process was not followed. 

Commissioner Jeste stated the change orders in the cases he has looked at have been 
initiated by the City because they have received additional funding; spoke of the 
contractors finishing their work and the City wanting to spend the new funds received and 
just adding more scope to the contractors. 



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, December 11, 2025 
Page 7 

Commissioner Woodham stated that is the point at which City Council needs to decide 
the priorities for the money; noted he was struggling with understanding want an auditor 
would do in this case.  

Chair Allen noted that Commissioner Jeste did a good job explaining the problem, which 
is the City ends up spending 460% more at the end of the project for a bid that was initially 
done at x amount; asked what he thinks the solutions could be. 

Commissioner Turner spoke of the process being the issue. 

Chair Allen asked how would they change that process. 

Commissioner Turner stated the information the City provides to the contractors for the 
bid must be inaccurate but noted he does not have experience in the public sector and is 
basing his comment on his experience in the private sector; stated he would be interested 
to find out the basis of the change orders, whether they are necessity or if they are 
discretionary. 

Chair Allen asked staff to put the excel spreadsheet of the CIP up on the screen; 
explained to Commissioner Turner (since he was just added to the Budget & Finance 
Commission) that staff put together an excel file and added all the details including links 
with more detail. 

Commissioner Turner wanted to know Council’s process for change orders, noted that 
necessity is understandable but if it falls under discretionary who has the authorization to 
approve it. 

Finance Director Meyer stated that if a change order falls outside of staff’s authority it 
would go to City Council; explained that staff present the information to Council, Council 
hears it as a body, and votes to approve or not approve it. 

Chair Allen said there is a threshold amount that goes to Council versus the City Manager; 
explained it is under Consent Calendar Items at the meetings, staff recommend those 
items, and Council can choose to approve them without discussion or pull the item for 
discussion. 

Commissioner Turner asked if that is what they are recommended gets audited. 

Commissioner Jeste stated the problem is Council does not really understand since they 
are not experts and are rubber stamping everything; spoke of his letter to the Mayor and 
read the Mayor’s response to him. 

More discussion followed regarding where the confusion is for City Council. 

Commissioner Jeste asked why the City isn’t getting bids for the whole project instead of 
portions of it. 



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, December 11, 2025 
Page 8 

Commissioner Turner asked what can the Commission do about it if the Council voted, 
did their due diligence and followed their process. 

More discussion followed regarding the City’s process on bids, finding contractors, and 
the process the City has been using for 50 years and the Commission’s opinion that it 
needs to be changed and the need for a project expert to assist the City. 

Chair Allen invited public comments. 

Jim Mueller stated he worked in government procurements for a couple of years and 
focused on construction; spoke of contractors who understand the system and bid low 
because they know change orders are easy; said the level that this City is experiencing 
in change orders is out of control and the City does not have the means and background 
to review all the contracts and need to rely on the expertise of construction people; stated 
a good way to control it would be to make a database of all the contractors and find the 
ones who constantly generate the most change orders and they are also often times the 
contractors who bid low; noted it would be a good way to keep track of the contractors 
that are reliable and the ones you can’t rely on; suggested the City also look on the 
engineering side of the project and find out why the engineers are not designing the 
project better so they can come up with better estimates; noted that the capital budget 
gets less focus than the expense budget and it is a matter of expertise; explained there 
are change orders that are normal but it would help to track them to find the ones that are 
unusual. 

Commissioner Turner asked Jim Mueller if, in his experience, he has seen an acceptable 
average or a percentage of increase in costs from the start of a project to the final project 
cost. 

Jim Mueller responded that all projects are different and if a project is brand new it would 
be more difficult to come up with an exact estimate but if it is a project that the City has 
done many times they should be able to have a good idea of what it would cost; stated if 
they continue to have multiple change orders on the projects they have done before then 
there is something wrong on the engineering side or the bidding side. 

Commissioner Woodham stated they need to have the Public Works Director in the 
discussion they are having because he could answer some of the questions they have 
regarding the bid process and the contractors. 

Chair Allen noted they had just had the Public Works Director come a few months ago 
and he answered all their questions. 

Discussion followed that they did not ask the right questions to the Public Works Director 
and they now have more information to ask the right ones. 

Commissioner Woodham stated having a discussion with the Public Works Director to 
learn about their process is necessary before the Commission suggests hiring a 
consultant or auditor. 



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, December 11, 2025 
Page 9 

Finance Director Meyer thanked Chair Allen for mentioning staff has been there before 
and especially the Capital Projects Manager who answered a lot of questions; suggested 
it would be helpful if the Commission created a list of specific questions to provide to staff 
in advance so staff can determine if they can answer the questions without bringing the 
Public Works Director back since he has so many priorities. 

Commissioner Woodham felt the questions needed to be presented to the Director of 
Public Works before the meeting. 

Finance Director Meyer agreed and clarified that she hoped staff could satisfactorily 
respond to the questions without having to attend a meeting; reported they also have their 
annual joint meeting with the Public Works and Safety Commission and they may also be 
able to answer some of the questions. 

Chair Allen stated they do have to be respectful of staff’s time and noted they have already 
been to two meetings and Jesse Reyes, along with his team, created the spreadsheet for 
them; suggested they put their questions in an email to staff. 

Commissioner Jeste pointed out that the Commission would need to go through every 
project to know what questions to ask and he studied just four of the projects, but each 
one had different questions. 

Commissioner Ramcharan opined that they can ask general questions such as “What’s 
the process after you commit to a project?”, “What’s the process to change the budget?” 
or questions that refer to data collections such as “Do some contractors match with certain 
kinds of projects that typically get extended?” and from the responses they can look into 
patterns with contractors to determine whether they are questionable; offered to construct 
an email and begin the process and once the Commission agrees on the list of questions 
they can send it off to staff. 

Finance Director Meyer suggested the Commission focuses on areas of concern such as 
process and bidding and stated staff would be able to provide better information that way. 

Commissioner Turner stated, from a process standpoint, they could pick two or three 
projects with the highest variance between the initial estimate and final cost from the 
report they have and use those as their case study; noted once they have a better 
understanding of the process they could suggest updates and improvements to the 
process. 

Commissioner Marin reported one of the projects (No. 50150) on the spreadsheet has an 
initial approval that is N/A but the project ended up at almost $17 million which is a big 
part of the $40 million; stated that there may be other factors they are not capturing and, 
to Commissioner Woodham’s point, having Public Works there to help them better 
understand the process may be helpful and once they understand the process they can 
figure out if there is a way to improve the process or bring in a third party to fix it. 



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, December 11, 2025 
Page 10 

Finance Director Meyer shared that the initial appropriated amount that the City 
communicates almost never represents what the City thinks the total cost will be and 
explained it is seed money set aside to explore the project. 

More discussion followed that the initial appropriation is often a placeholder and the 
engineer’s estimate is a better expected cost of the project to use. 

Commissioner Jeste stated the root cause of the problem is change orders and they 
cannot eliminate them but they need to minimize them.  

Commissioner Turner agreed; stated it seems that the engineer’s initial cost of projects 
are no where near what the project ends up being and asked if the engineer does not fully 
understand the scope of the project, or does the City start with an initial idea and then 
expands it, or is the contractor seeing an opportunity to get change orders approved to 
make up for a very low bid; clarified that what he does not understand is the process of 
where the City gets their estimate for the cost of the projects contractors bid on and that 
is where the biggest variance is. 

More discussion followed regarding additional funding the City wants to spend, proposals 
going out to bid without full understanding of the extent of the project, and how to better 
understand it.  

Commissioner Woodham spoke about the differences between private sector projects 
and public sector projects and the uncertainty of funding in the public sector.  

Motion by Commissioner Ramcharan, seconded by Commissioner Woodham, to create 
a subcommittee to draft a series of questions to bring back to the Commission at the next 
meeting to get final approval on the list of questions and then submit the list to staff. 

Motion carried 7-0 by voice vote. 

The Commission agreed to have Commissioners Ramcharan, Turner, and Jeste on the 
subcommittee to create the list of questions. 

J.3. PROFESSIONAL SERVICES PROCUREMENT  

Commissioner Marin stated the item was based on a public comment from the previous 
month.  

Chair Allen commented that the professional services procurement are done differently 
than the CIPs and explained that they don’t need bids, the thresholds are different, and 
they spend a lot of money on consulting services; invited public comments. 

Jim Mueller stated by the municipal code professional services procurement is virtually 
uncompetitive and the code excludes from competition engineers, architects, 
accountants, attorneys, doctors, and other professional classes; noted that almost 
anyone hired as a consultant can be hired as a sole source without any competitive 
bidding and it is about 8% to 10% of the total budget; commented that it would be worth 



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, December 11, 2025 
Page 11 

the Commission’s time to look into and gave examples of contracts that have recently 
been awarded to consultants that he found interesting; stated that the Consent Calendar 
have had extensions to sole source contracts which all are approved as a blanket and 
spoke of sole source contracts going on for years which is a problem the Commission 
should look into because money could be saved. 

Chair Allen stated it is a problem but the City has no bidding required for consulting 
services. 

Commissioner Ramcharan asked if there was a way to see data contract by contract, 
over the past 4 to 5 years, what was spent, and to whom it was spent on. 

Finance Director Meyer stated they could pull the data by vendor. 

Commissioner Ramcharan said it would be helpful to see the data by vendor, the purpose, 
and a description of the job. 

Finance Director Meyer said she will need to check the City’s procedures on how to pull 
the data, noted it might require a public records request but was not sure if it applied to 
requests made by the Commission. 

Commissioner Ramcharan stated if she could tell the Commission what data are available 
and then they can choose what they would like to see. 

More discussion followed regarding what data is available, narrowing down the search to 
specifics, and how far back they could request. 

Finance Director Meyer stated that for all their items they would have a vendor, invoice 
backup, and an agreement or a PO for documentation and thought the record retention 
is five years; reported that she will take a look and will need to see how long it would take 
to recover the data to provide to them. 

Chair Allen stated that what they want is basically what they did with the CIP. 

Commissioner Ramcharan spoke about understanding the process behind who is 
chosen, how much is spent, and the continuation of the contract; noted he wanted to be 
mindful of staff time so wanted to know if Finance Director Meyer could let them know 
what data is possible from what the City collects.  

More discussion followed on how to proceed, how the data will be pulled, and the most 
efficient and effective way to pull the information. 

Finance Director Meyer asked what the Commission is aiming to find so that she could 
determine the best way to present the data; noted that the City wrote the municipal code 
to exclude professional services from competitive bidding on purpose at some point and 
asked if they are trying to understand why that was to possibly recommend changing the 
City’s municipal code and the City’s purchasing rules. 



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, December 11, 2025 
Page 12 

Commissioner Woodham stated the Commission would like to know the total size of what 
the City is spending and whether there are contracts that are perpetually renewed. 

Finance Director Meyer stated, unrelated to that evening’s discussion, her department 
along with one of the assistants to the City Manager is looking at professional services in 
detail, specifically at thresholds and processes to update and strengthen a lot of language 
in the code. 

Commissioner Ramcharan provided a potential theory to be looked at that involved 
looking at whether cost being charged begins to diverge over time from what the market 
rate is but what the nature of the contract is needs to be thought out carefully. 

Commissioner Turner asked about the existing process and how companies are procured 
by the City. 

Finance Director Meyer stated it depends on the dollar amount and on the service 
needed; noted that the threshold for submitting a formal report and recommendation from 
staff for Council to approve is $35,000 and anything under $35,000 Council approves but 
only an agreement and supporting documentation is needed for those; stated, in terms of 
process, the City does frequently issue RFPs for professional services and competitively 
bid those and provided some scenarios where they have gone out to bid for services. 

Chair Allen, for clarification, stated the City is not required to do RFPs for professional 
services and are not required to go out to bid any other way. 

Finance Director Meyer stated that Council is required to approve all contracts awarded 
and all warrants in any case. 

Chair Allen stated in other cities managers can approve certain amounts, after that 
directors approve certain amounts, and from there city managers approve and above that 
it goes to Council but questioned in Redondo Beach everything goes to Council. 

Finance Director Meyer clarified, for professional services contracts, Council approves as 
a special item contracts under $35,000 and anything above $35,000 would require a 
standalone report for Council approval. 

Chair Allen asked if all contracts regardless of amount for professional services goes to 
Council. 

Finance Director Meyer stated anything under $5,000 can be done with a PO by staff and 
Council does not need to approve those but believed anything over $5,000 for 
professional services goes to Council but was not completely sure of that threshold. 

More discussion followed regarding recommendations for professional services, the 
municipal code, and any other requirements involved in procurement of professional 
services.  



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, December 11, 2025 
Page 13 

Finance Director Meyer stated Council does look closely at the list of under $35,000 
agreements and staff does need to justify them in some format; pointed out that she 
included the City’s administrative policy and procedure related to purchasing in that 
evening’s packet; noted it goes through all the purchases requiring a purchase order, the 
different thresholds, and professional services and put the document up on the screen so 
the Commission could view it. 

Discussion followed regarding when the municipal code was last updated and staff’s 
action to review and possibly update the code.  

Finance Director Meyer stated the project they are undertaking will be important Citywide, 
they will look at other cities’ best practices, other cities’ purchases, their thresholds and 
compare them to Redondo Beach. 

Commissioner Ramcharan asked if there is a consensus to have Finance Director Meyer 
provide the Commission with a census of what is available, and once that is done, the 
Commission can decide what data set they would like to inspect more carefully.  

Finance Director Meyer requested that the Commission pause their request so staff can 
focus on doing the analysis to update the process and then she can update the 
Commission on their analysis; stated it would not take the place of the Commission’s 
initial step to provide them with the data they request but the analysis can be time 
intensive.  

Discussion followed on how far along staff is in the process with the analysis; Finance 
Director Meyer stated they are scheduled to have an official kickoff early in January for 
the Citywide review but has had initial meetings with her department already. 

Chair Allen asked what the City would be trying to accomplish. 

Finance Director Meyer stated they are reviewing the City’s purchasing procedures with 
a view to updating them according to best practices, City standards, potentially giving the 
City more flexibility. 

Chair Allen noted it is not the same information the Commission is requesting. 

Commissioner Ramcharan agreed it is different but could be complementary but wanted 
to be mindful not to impose too high a cost on staff. 

Finance Director Meyer said what they are requesting is not too time-consuming and it 
would be helpful for staff as well as the Commission to pull the data. 

Liaison Bodkin reported a Zoom attendee with a comment. 

Eugene Solomon (via Zoom) encouraged the Commissioners to look at Section 19 in the 
City Charter for the City’s public works contracting for some language that might be helpful 
in determining how and if they want to change professional services contracting; stated 
for department heads it is discretionary for many of the contracts and there is an internal 



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, December 11, 2025 
Page 14 

process for requests for information for bids, proposals, and qualifications for professional 
service contracts that are behind the scenes that are occurring; suggested the 
Commission narrow down the scope of their focus ask the Charter has done. 

Motion by Commissioner Ramcharan, seconded by Commissioner Marin, for the City to 
provide the Commission with a census of the data that is possible on the professional 
services contracts, then the Commission can review it and decide whether to ask the City 
to provide them with a sample of the data from the variables that the City has provided in 
the census. 

Motion carried 7-0 by voice vote. 

J.4.  CALPERS ASSET LIABILITY MANAGEMENT UPDATE  

Chair Allen asked the Commission if they wanted to continue or bring this item back; 
noted it was 8:23 p.m. 

Finance Director Meyer stated it is a completely voluntary item, and she added it to the 
agenda because there were some interesting items in the webinar and a policy update; 
noted that Commissioner Woodham was there; commented that she prepared a 
PowerPoint but could just send that to the Commission and they could discuss it at 
another time.  

Commissioner Woodham offered to give a two-minute summary; reported that CalPERS 
is changing their asset allocation process to a mode that allows them to make some 
tactical changes as they see the opportunities and went into further explanation on the 
change CalPERS is making; reported they hired a new Chief Investment Officer and the 
whole process is designed to either lower volatility of the portfolio and/or increase returns; 
commented that they will see over time whether the new approach works or not. 

Finance Director Meyer stated she will send out the PowerPoint she created to the 
Commissioners; thanked Commissioner Woodham for his recap; noted that they will 
probably not be able to get CalPERS to come out this year but if they have any questions, 
she can send them over to CalPERS for a response. 

Motion by Commissioner Woodham, seconded by Commissioner Marin, to accept and 
file. 

Motion carried 7-0 by voice vote. 

J.5.  CHANGES TO THE UNIFORM REGULATIONS AND THE BUDGET AND 
FINANCE COMMISSION ORDINANCES  

Chair Allen asked the Commission and staff if they wanted to continue or wait for this item 
due to time. 



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, December 11, 2025 
Page 15 

Finance Director Meyer stated Jacob Kamsvaag, Administrative Analyst, put together 
some excellent slides and she could go through them very quickly if the Commission 
could read them again later along with the supporting material. 

The Commission agreed to go through the highlights. 

Finance Director Meyer explained that the item is being brought before the Commission 
because there have been changes to the uniform regulations, which went into effect on 
November 18th, affecting all commissions and to the Budget & Finance Commission 
specifically and staff has been asked to share the changes with the Commission; provided 
slides with an overview of the updates; explained the updates are meant to clarify and 
clean up old language and make uniform regulations that apply to all commissions; 
showed a slide titled “New and Repealed Language” which listed the new sections and 
stated they are lengthy and recommended they read them in detail since they are new; 
stated the repealed language removed some unnecessary language to conform with 
existing practice; showed a slide with “Clarifying Language” and reiterated the importance 
of them to read through it; highlighted the slide that had the minor changes to the Budget 
& Finance Commission and went over those changes; provided a screenshot of the 
Commission’s brief outline of duties; stated that the last item is regarding the Code of 
Conduct the City Council is working on which will apply to City Council and all 
Commissions and should come back in 2026; noted once the Code of Conduct is finalized 
staff will hold training for all the new Commissioners which will likely include the Mayor, 
City Manager, possibly the City Attorney, and the City Clerk. 

Motion by Commissioner Woodham, seconded by Commissioner Marin, to accept and 
file. 

Motion carried 7-0 by voice vote. 

Liaison Bodkin reported no one online and no eComments. 

J.6. NOMINATIONS AND ELECTION OF CHAIRPERSON AND VICE-CHAIR  

Discussion ensued. 

Motion by Commissioner Sherbin, seconded by Commissioner Marin, to nominate 
Commissioner Jerry Woodham as Chair. 

Motion carried 7-0 by voice vote. 

Commissioner Sherbin stated Chair Allen has done a fantastic job as Chair. 

More positive comments were made regarding Commissioner Allen’s time as Chair. 

Motion by Commissioner Allen, seconded by Commissioner Marin, to volunteer herself to 
be Vice Chair. 

Motion carried 7-0 by voice vote.  



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, December 11, 2025 
Page 16 

K. COMMISSION MEMBER ITEMS AND FUTURE COMMISSION AGENDA 
TOPICS 

Discussion followed regarding the letter needed for the quarterly budget recommendation 
and it was decided that the subcommittee would draft the letter. 

Chair Allen stated the CIP project will be brought back for discussion so they can discuss 
the list of questions and the Commission can add or comment on the questions. 

Discussion followed regarding the professional services procurement and if Finance 
Director Meyer would be able to come back by next month with what staff can provide in 
terms of data. Finance Director Meyer said it would be doable. 

Chair Allen stated the third item would be the Year End Budget. 

Finance Director Meyer introduced Jacob Kamsvaag as the new Budget Analyst. 

L. ADJOURNMENT – 8:39 P.M.  

Motion by Commissioner Ramcharan, seconded by Commissioner Woodham, to adjourn 
the meeting at 8:39 p.m. 

Motion carried 7-0 by voice vote.  

The next meeting of the Redondo Beach Budget & Finance Commission will be a regular 
meeting to be held at 6:30 p.m. on January 8, 2026, in the Redondo Beach Council 
Chambers, at 415 Diamond Street, Redondo Beach, California.  

All written comments submitted via eComment are included in the record and available 
for public review on the City website. 

 

Respectfully submitted: 

 

_________________________________ 
Stephanie Meyer 
Finance Director 


